6-2

45
7 988

IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

LEE COUNTY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.)

Appellant,

vs.

JOHN R. MARKS, ET AL.,

Appellees.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 68,346

On Appeal From The Florida Public Service
Commission, Order #15452, Docket #85-0129-EU,
John R. Marks, Chairman

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Filed on behalf of Lee County
Electric Cooperative, Inc.
William H. Chandler
John H. Haswell
Chandler, Gray, Lang & Haswell, P.A.
P. O. Box 23879
Gainesville, Florida 32602
(904) 376-5226

Dated June 2, 1986

B. FACTS:

Although no evidentiary hearing has been permitted in the lower tribunal, for purposes of a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Cause of Action, the allegations of the Complaint or Petition are deemed to be true by the reviewing court. C.G.J. Corporation v. Hurwitz, 123 So.2d 44 (Fla. 3d DCA 1960).

Hence the following are the factual allegations that the PSC determined failed to state a claim. The full set of factual allegations are as set forth in LCEC's Amended Petition (R-37-54) and are only summarized here. Reference is also made to the "facts" set forth in PSC Order #15452 which is the subject of review.

On October 8, 1964, LCEC and FPL entered into a retail territorial agreement with respect to service areas in Lee, Collier, Hendry, Charlotte Counties, Florida. (R-38, 47) The agreement was approved by the PSC on April 28, 1985, Order No. 3799. (R-50) FMM owns a rockcrushing plant, scale house and other facilities on property lying more than two miles inside LCEC's service area. (R-38) FPL has no customer of any kind within several miles of the subject area. (R-39)

On November 15, 1984, FPL filed with the PSC a Petition for Declaratory Statement, Docket #84-0414, (R-43,78) asking the PSC whether FPL is required under 366.03, Fla. Stat., to serve a customer who has built a line extending its point of service from the territory in which its operating facilities are located to that of FPLs. (R-78)

FPL did not serve process on LCEC, and did not join LCEC as a party to the Declaratory proceeding. (R-44) On November 19, 1984, LCEC filed a Petition to Resolve a Territorial Dispute between LCEC and FPL and moved to consolidate the case with FPL's Declaratory proceeding (R-44,78). FMM built a transmission line into FPL's service area (R-39). LCEC appeared at a December 4,

1984 Agenda Conference in its case to request the PSC to consolidate the two cases. (R-44,78) The PSC denied LCEC's Motion to Consolidate, even though Rule 25-22.35(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides for consolidation of matters involving similar issues of law or fact, or identical parties. (R-44,78)

LCEC declined to intervene as a party in FPL's Petition for Declaratory Statement at the Agenda Conference on December 4, 1984. (R-78).

In the declaratory statement proceeding, the PSC, with two members dissenting, concluded that FPL has a statutory duty, pursuant to 366.03 Fla. Stat., to serve "a customer", since this customer's "delivery point" was located within the territory allocated to the investor-owned utility pursuant to the terms of the 1964 Retail Territorial Agreement. (R-78, Appendix 1) LCEC filed a new Petition in this case, which was dismissed with leave to permit LCEC to amend to make specific allegations as to the provisions of the territorial agreement which were violated. (R-79)

LCEC filed its Amended Petition setting forth with specificity all of the violations of the territorial agreement which had occurred, and also specifying the manner in which the property rights of LCEC was taken by FPL and Florida Mining and Materials. (R-79-80) Again, FPL filed a Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that the facts constituting the territorial dispute

were already resolved in the declaratory statement action to which LCEC was not a party. (R-80). As previously stated, the PSC granted the Motion to Dismiss with prejudice, and a subsequent Motion for Reconsideration by LCEC was denied. (R-80,95).

LCEC's Amended Petition alleges a violation of the territorial agreement with FPL, asserts LCEC's right to serve FMM, alleges a conspiracy between FPL and FMM to deprive LCEC of its property rights, and asserts a denial of due process of law, all as guaranteed by the Florida and US Constitutions.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I. Due Process Claim. LCEC's first argument is essentially a claim that the constitutional rights of LCEC have been violated by the PSC's order dismissing the Amended Petition without any evidentiary hearing. LCEC asserts that it has a valuable constitutional right to serve customers in its agreed on service territory (by agreement with FPL), and that such a right is not only provided by case law, but also by a contract approved by the PSC. The PSC conducted a Declaratory Statement proceeding at FPL's request, under §120.565 Fla. Stat., to which LCEC was not a party. The "proceeding" itself was not even an evidentiary hearing, but was conducted at an informal Agenda Conference. The PSC's dismissal is based on its erroneous view that the issues raised by LCEC were already decided by it in the Declaratory Statement proceeding, and such determination is binding on LCEC, rendering LCEC's Amended Petition to Resolve a Territorial Dispute moot. Dismissing LCEC's Petition without any semblance of a hearing, based on an informal proceeding to which LCEC was not a party is clearly a violation of LCEC's constitutional rights and does violence to any notion of due process.

II. Res Judicata. LCEC's second argument is essentially that the Order entered by the PSC in the Declaratory Statement proceeding (Appendix 1) to which LCEC was not a party, is not binding on LCEC. The issues raised by LCEC are not identical to the narrow issue raised by FPL. Even if the issues were

identical, LCEC cannot be estopped by such an Order when it was not a party to the proceeding and when no formal hearing was ever conducted on any issue. LCEC's claims include a specific agreement with FPL, while FPL's Declaratory Statement proceeding only involved a general statement of obligations of any public utility under §366.03 Fla. Stat..

III. Territorial Agreement & Chapter 366.04 Fla. Stat.
LCEC's third argument is based on the actual agreement with FPL on service areas, the PSC Order approving the agreement, and the general public interest in avoidance of duplication of facilities under §366.04, Fla. Stat.. LCEC's point is that allowing FPL to furnish electric service to a customer whose end use facilities are wholly within LCEC's service area does violence to the intent and purpose of the territorial agreement, and §366.04 Fla. Stat.. Allowing such conduct, using an artificial "point of service" notion, renders the territorial agreement meaningless, and will permit "range wars" between competing utilities. This court should adopt a rule of reason in looking at the "point of service" theory, and decide that a geographic load center test or end use facility test comports with reason and logic, and will promote the objectives of avoidance of uneconomic duplication of facilities.

IV. Standard for Reviewing Tribunal on a Motion to Dismiss.
LCEC's last argument is the basic, well settled principle that when a court is called on to review a complaint or petition for

purposes of a motion to dismiss, the facts alleged, for purposes of the motion, are deemed to be true. Based on that principle, it was error for the PSC to determine that the Petition failed to "demonstrate" a violation of the territorial agreement and then dismiss the Petition with prejudice. The Petition on its face alleges, (1) a violation of the territorial agreement, (2) a violation of §366.04 Fla. Stat., (3) a violation of LCEC's constitutional rights, and (4) a violation of established policy of the PSC to encourage territorial agreements. The PSC, ignoring the principle that such allegations must be treated as true, decided that LCEC "failed to demonstrate" a violation, without allowing any evidence to be presented, without any discovery, without any hearing. In short, the PSC denied LCEC the opportunity to demonstrate the violation (that's what the hearing is for), and then used the failure to demonstrate the violation as an excuse to dismiss the Petition. This must not stand.

I. WHETHER LCEC'S FEDERAL & STATE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW HAS BEEN ABRIDGED WHEN, (1) AN ORDER ENTERED IN A DECLARATORY STATEMENT PROCEEDING TO WHICH LCEC WAS NEITHER A PARTY NOR A PARTICIPANT HAS BEEN USED BY THE PSC TO BAR ANY CLAIM BY LCEC IN A SUBSEQUENT PROCEEDING TO RESOLVE A TERRITORIAL DISPUTE, AND (2) LCEC HAS BEEN DENIED THE RIGHT TO ANY EVIDENTIARY HEARING OR FORMAL PROCEEDING PROVIDED FOR BY CHAPTER 120 FLORIDA STATUTES.

The Florida Supreme Court held in Tampa Electric Co. v. Withlacoochee River Electric Coop. that the right of an electric utility to serve its customers in its service area is a property right which may not be unlawfully injured or hindered. 122 So.2d 471, 472-73 (Fla. 1960). The Court reasoned that this property right included the utility's interest in the revenue which it would receive from the services to be rendered to its customers in the future, and a utility's property rights could be damaged by the loss of profits and by the waste and disuse of equipment. Id. at 472-73.

Article 1, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provide that no person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law. In interpreting the meaning of "person" under the Florida and Federal Constitutions, the Florida Supreme Court in Freidus v. Freidus, 89 So.2d 604, 605 (Fla. 1956), held that a corporation is a "person" within the meaning of due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment. Later, the Florida Supreme Court ruled that due process of law under the

Florida and Federal Constitutions extends to property rights of corporations. Aztec Motel, Inc. v. Faircloth, 251 So.2d 849, 854 (Fla. 1971). It is therefore well settled that LCEC as a corporation duly incorporated under the laws of Florida, is entitled to due process of law. Freidus at 605; Aztec at 854.

Administrative agency action in Florida is strictly held to the procedural due process requirements of notice and an opportunity to be heard. Hollywood Jaycees v. State Dept. of Revenue, 306 So.2d 109 (Fla. 1974); Hime v. Fla. Real Estate Commission, 61 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1952). LCEC, as a party with an actual, present, adverse and antagonistic interest to FPL's Petition for Declaratory Statement was not made a party to that proceeding.

The PSC, by denying LCEC's Motion to Consolidate its Petition with that of FPL's in Docket No. 840414-EI, refused to afford LCEC a reasonable opportunity to be heard. Not only was LCEC denied an opportunity to be heard through a consolidated proceeding, but has also been prohibited by the PSC from conducting discovery in the case at bar. (R-68) Where an affected party is denied reasonable opportunity to be heard, "or without obtaining or considering any substantial evidence, where investigation, inquiry and evidence are necessary as a basis for the action taken, the proceeding is not had in due course of law and this court [Florida Supreme Court] will not enforce it". State ex rel. Railroad Commissioners v. Florida East Coast Railway Co., 59 So. 385, 393 (Fla. 1912). Such a denial of due

process, as committed in the case at bar, avoids any statutory presumption that the action taken was reasonable or just. Id.

This very Court has stated, in Williams v. Kelly, 182 So. 811 (1938), that whenever life, liberty or property rights are involved in any official action, the organic requirements of due process of law must be afforded, whether such action is the exercise of the powers of government by governmental departments, or whether the action of an administrative or ministerial function. The United States Supreme Court, in Hughes v. Rowe, 101 S.Ct. 173 (U.S. 1980), held that procedural due process is absolute, not depending on the merits of a claimant's allegations, because of the importance to organized society that due process be observed. Denial of due process should be actionable without proof of actual injury. Id. at .

While no one will argue that the PSC is not a court of record, nonetheless, it is bound by basic standards of fairness which must be met if due process is to prevail. City of Miami v. Jarvis, 139 So.2d 513, 515 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962). Basic standards were described in Deel Motors, Inc. v. Department of Commerce, 252 So.2d 389 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), where the court, in determining that the Department of Commerce failed to afford due process to the petitioner, Deel Motors, Inc., held that Administrative Procedure Act proceedings contemplates: 1) reasonable notice, 2) opportunity to appear and be heard on the issue, 3) an order based on sworn testimony of witnesses and

credible documentary evidence, 4) the right to cross-examine witnesses against them, and 5) to be heard regarding proposed agency action. Id. at 389, 394.

In the case at bar, LCEC has not been afforded even the pretense of basic fairness. A proceeding (we decline to use the word "hearing" because no witnesses were called, no testimony was taken, and no evidence was presented) was had on December 4, 1984 on a Petition by FPL. LCEC was not a party. Tongue-in-cheek the PSC says in Order #15452, that LCEC "was offered intervenor status... but declined the same". Yes, that is true. LCEC was offered, at the very conference at which the PSC was going to issue the declaratory statement, the "opportunity" to intervene. That would have afforded LCEC about as fair a hearing as one would receive intervening in a proceeding that had already been tried, with the only matter remaining being the judgment. No witnesses, no evidence, no argument. The same Order says that LCEC was "represented by counsel at the December 4th Agenda Conference....," as if LCEC were present in the FPL docket. Yes, LCEC was in the room, appearing in LCEC's own docket and arguing a Motion to Consolidate as stated in the Order. The PSC chose to deny the Motion. It should not now be allowed to claim that LCEC had an opportunity to be heard.

The substantive rights of LCEC have been decided by resort to a declaratory statement proceeding at which no hearing of any substance took place. As an administrative agency, the PSC is not exempt from the constitutional requirements of procedural due

process. Thorn v. Florida Real Estate Commission, 146 So.2d 907
(Fla. 2d DCA 1962).

LCEC does not ask this Court to decide the merits of the case, what it wants is a fair hearing. So far it has been denied.

II. WHETHER A DECLARATORY STATEMENT ISSUED BY THE PSC OVER AN ISSUE OF FPL'S OBLIGATIONS UNDER FLA. STAT. §366.03 TO SERVE A CUSTOMER IS BINDING AND RES JUDICATA AS TO LCEC'S TERRITORIAL DISPUTE CLAIM, WHEN, (1) LCEC WAS NOT A PARTY TO THE PRIOR ACTION, (2) THE TERRITORIAL DISPUTE INVOLVES PROPERTY RIGHTS OF LCEC AND A WRITTEN AGREEMENT BETWEEN FPL AND LCEC, AND (3) NO FORMAL, EVIDENTIARY HEARING OF ANY KIND HAS EVER BEEN HELD EITHER IN THE CASE AT BAR, OR IN THE DECLARATORY STATEMENT CASE.

With respect to declaratory statements, the Florida Administrative Procedure Act provides as follows:

Each agency shall provide by rule the procedure for the filing and prompt disposition of petitions for declaratory statements. A declaratory statement shall set out the agency's opinion as to the applicability of a specified statutory provision or of any rule or order of the agency as it applies to the petitioner in his particular set of circumstances only. The agency shall give notice of each petition and its disposition in the Florida Administrative Weekly, except that educational units shall give notice in the same manner as provided for rules in s. 120.54(1)(a), and transmit copies of each petition and its disposition to the committee. Agency disposition of petitions shall be final agency action.

§120.565, Fla. Stat. (1983). The Florida Public Service Commission has implemented §120.565 by providing that "[a]ny person may seek a declaratory statement as to the applicability of a specific statutory provision or of any rule or order of the Commission as it applies to the Petitioner in his or her particular set of circumstances only." Rule 25-22.20(1) F.A.C.. The PSC has described the purpose and use of the declaratory statement as follows:

A declaratory statement is a means for resolving a controversy or answering questions or doubts concerning the applicability of any statutory provision, rule or order as it does, or may, apply to petitioner in his or her particular circumstances only. The potential impact upon petitioner's interests must be alleged in order for petitioner to show the existence of a controversy, question or doubt.

Rule 25-22.21 F.A.C.

Under the Commission's rules, the Commission "may" hold a hearing to dispose of a petition for a declaratory statement. Rule 25-22.22. If a hearing is held, it is to be conducted pursuant to §120.57, Fla. Stat. on an expedited basis, or as otherwise agreed upon by the Commission and the parties. Section 120.57 of the Florida APA provides for the holding of evidentiary hearing "in all proceedings in which the substantial interests of a party are determined by an agency...." §120.57 Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1984). In the case at bar, the PSC refused to hold an evidentiary hearing on FPL's Petition for Declaratory Statement, merely bringing it up at an Agenda Conference (R-78). LCEC declined to intervene in the declaratory statement proceeding because if it did, LCEC would have to take the case as it found it, proceed without a chance to prepare, and waive all due process rights of notice. LCEC was not a party to the declaratory statement proceeding, and therefore no standing to appeal the Order on Request for Declaratory Statement, which determined the narrow issue that FPL had a statutory duty under §366.03 Fla. Stat. (1983) to serve FMM. See §120.68(1)

Fla. Stat. ("A party who is adversely affected by final agency action is entitled to judicial review"); State Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services v. Barr, 359 So.2d 503, 505 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) (persons not parties to a Section 120.565 proceeding are not in a position to seek judicial review of the resulting declaratory statement).

The PSC and FPL nevertheless contend that the declaratory statement issued by the Commission in response to FPL's Petition must be regarded as having collaterally estopped LCEC from contesting any of the issues raised and decided in the declaratory statement proceeding, thus rendering moot LCEC's Amended Petition for Resolution of a Territorial Dispute. This collateral estoppel is said to arise simply because LCEC had the "opportunity" to intervene and participate in the declaratory statement proceeding. Such a contention is contrary to the well-established proposition in Florida administrative law that a declaratory statement is stare decisis if anything, not res judicata, with respect to persons not parties to the declaratory statement proceeding. In State Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services v. Barr, supra, the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services issued a declaratory statement in response to an appropriate petition pursuant to §120.565 Fla. Stat.. The respondents then filed a rule-challenge petition pursuant to §120.56 Fla. Stat., contending that the declaratory statement amounted to an illicit rule not promulgated in accordance with §120.54 Fla. Stat.. The First District Court of

Appeal initially held that §120.56 did not vest jurisdiction in a hearing officer "to invalidate or obliterate an agency's declaratory statement, regularly issued under Section 120.565, as in whole or in part a rule". 359 So.2d at 505.

The respondents expressed concern that persons not parties to a Section 120.565 proceeding, who therefore are not in a position to seek judicial review of the resulting declaratory statement, might later "be adversely affected by the agency's enforcement against them of its interpretation of law thus announced". Id. The court responded to this concern by saying:

"That is true. Agency orders rendered in Section 120.57 proceedings may in the same way indirectly determine controversies and affect persons yet unborn. But the rule is stare decisis, not res judicata. If such a person's substantial interests are to be determined in the light of a prior agency order or declaratory statement, Section 120.57 proceedings will afford him the opportunity to attack the agency's position by appropriate means, and Section 120.68 will provide judicial review in due course."

Id., at 505 (emphasis added); accord Cenac v. Florida State Board of Accountancy, 399 So.2d 1013, 1018 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) (declaratory statements are final agency action, are reviewable, and have the effect of stare decisis); Rice v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 386 So.2d 844, 847 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) (appellants' construction of the statute is not necessarily foreclosed by a contrary agency order entered earlier in proceedings to which appellants were not parties; there has been no rulemaking to construe the statute, and as to these

appellants that earlier order has no res judicata effect, citing Barr).

Of course, if the PSC had engaged in rulemaking and promulgated a formal rule that the point of delivery, rather than the point of use or consumption, should always control in determining whether a violation of a PSC-approved territorial agreement has occurred, that rule "would be well-nigh conclusive". Bowling v. Department of Insurance, 394 So.2d 165, 174 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). But the PSC did not engage in rulemaking. It only issued a declaratory statement, which is directed to resolving a controversy or question as to the applicability of a statute, rule or order to a petitioner "in his or her particular circumstances only". Rule 25-22.21. Thus, a declaratory statement proceedings is more akin to an adjudicatory proceeding under §120.57 Fla. Stat..

In State Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services v. Professional Firefighters of Florida, 366 So.2d 1276, 1277 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) The Court said, "A declaratory statement adjudicates rights...; it is 'final agency action' and 'reviewable in the same way as orders entered in Section 120.57 proceedings...' A rulemaking proceeding, authorized by §120.54(3), on the other hand, allows 'affected persons an opportunity to present evidence and argument on all issues under consideration appropriate to inform [the agency] of their contentions.'"). The necessity of reprovig contested nonrule

policy in Section 120.57 proceedings is the price the agency pays to avoid rulemaking. Bowling v. Department of Insurance, supra, 394 So.2d at 174 n.16; see Hill v. School Board of Leon County, 351 So.2d 732, 733 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), cert. denied, 359 So.2d 1215 (Fla. 1978).

Moreover, LCEC's decision not to intervene in the declaratory judgment proceedings was justified by the PSC's arbitrary denial of an evidentiary hearing which would have occurred if it had granted LCEC's Motion to Consolidate. In Sans Souci v. Division of Florida Land Sales & Condominiums, 448 So.2d 1116 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), condominium unit owners, through their condominium association, sought a Section 120.565 declaratory statement from the Division to preclude San Souci from raising the rent by exercising the rent escalation clause in the master sublease. The Division granted San Souci's motion to intervene, but refused to grant its request for an evidentiary hearing. Rule 7-3.01(4)(a)(2) of the Florida Administrative Code provides that the Division, in its discretion, "may" conduct an evidentiary hearing prior to rendering its declaratory statement. Sans Souci argued that the agency's denial of an evidentiary hearing amounted to a denial of due process. The Court held that the Division committed an abuse of discretion by denying Sans Souci an evidentiary hearing:

"In the instant case, although the division had the discretion to deny an evidentiary hearing, we hold that it abused its discretion in doing so under the circumstances. As stated above, the novation issue

necessarily involved the division's considering mixed questions of law and fact, the resolution of which could have, and proved to, greatly impinge on San Souci's right to exercise its contractual prerogatives. Given the nature of the issue and the rights at stake, San Souci, or either of the parties, was due an evidentiary hearing."

448 So.2d, at 1120 (emphasis added). Similarly, LCEC is due an evidentiary hearing since the issue as to the proper interpretation of the 1964 territorial agreement involves consideration of mixed questions of law and fact, the resolution of which will certainly have great impact on LCEC's protected property rights under the agreement. See Tampa Electric Co. v. Withlacochee River Electric Cooperative, Inc., 122 So.2d 471, 473 (Fla. 1960).

In short, LCEC is not barred by res judicata or collateral estoppel from proceeding with its territorial dispute action. The order entered in the §120.565 declaratory statement proceeding to which LCEC was not a party is stare decisis at best. LCEC is entitled to a full evidentiary hearing on the issues addressed in its Amended Petition.

III. WHETHER FPL IS VIOLATING (1) THE 1964 TERRITORIAL AGREEMENT WITH LCEC AND (2) THE INTERESTS OF THE PUBLIC UNDER CHAPTER 366 FLORIDA STATUTES, BY DELIVERING ELECTRIC SERVICE TO A CUSTOMER WHOSE ENTIRE END USE FACILITY IS 2 MILES INSIDE LCEC SERVICE AREA WHEN THE CUSTOMER, TO AVOID THE EFFECT OF THE TERRITORIAL AGREEMENT, BUILT ITS OWN TRANSMISSION LINE TO A POINT JUST ACROSS THE BOUNDARY LINE BETWEEN LCEC AND FPL?

The 1964 Retail Territorial Service Agreement between FPL and LCEC provides: "It is agreed that neither will offer to serve a customer outside its service area as shown on Exhibit A without first consulting and reaching agreement with the other party." (R-48) In Order No. 3799, dated April 28, 1965, (R-50) by which the Florida PSC approved the agreement, the Commission enumerated the following "advantages of having a territorial agreement":

"If there is no agreement, there will be duplications of service as a result of unrestrained competition, which in turn has several undesirable results. Unrestrained competition leads to attempted preemption of areas by the premature erection of more lines than are needed for immediate service, which lessens the immediate return of the investment and, in effect, must be subsidized by other customers of the utility. It means duplication of facilities in the same public ways which results in neither utility being able to get a full return on its investment, to the detriment of other customers who, in effect, also subsidize such uneconomical operations. It requires more employees to be constantly in the competitive areas and consumes more time and energy in efforts to "outsell" the competing utility. It makes for unsatisfactory customer relations in that the customer, being betwixt competing utilities, is drawn involuntarily into the competitive squabbles and must suffer the

resulting service inefficiencies. It prevents the full development of the customer potential in the competitive area since knowledge that a full return is unobtainable tends to divert the activities necessary for such development to more profitable areas, all to the detriment of the customer, and accordingly, not in the public interest. (R-50,51).

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