IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

LEE COUNTY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.,

Appellant,

vs.

JOHN R. MARKS, ET AL.,

Appellees.

CASE NO. 68,346

:

On Appeal From the Florida Public Service Commission, Order #15452, Docket #850129-EU, John R. Marks, Chairman

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY

Filed on behalf of Florida Power & Light Company Bryant, Miller and Olive, P.A. Wilton R. Miller Robert J. Kelly 201 South Monroe Street Suite 500 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-8611

Dated August 26, 1986

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The amended petition to resolve a territorial dispute filed by Appellant was properly dismissed by the Public Service Commission because the facts alleged in the amended petition (R-44) (AA-23), as a matter of law, failed to establish a violation of the territorial agreement between Appellant and Appellee/Florida Power & Light Company.

To the contrary, the petition alleged facts, all of which must be taken as true for purposes of a motion to dismiss. The petition alleges that Appellee/Florida Power & Light Company delivers electrical energy to a customer inside the area allocated to Florida Power & Light Company under its territorial agreement with Appellant.

All well-pleaded facts in the amended petition of Appellant are admitted to be true for the purpose of the motion to dismiss; thus, as a matter of law, no evidentiary hearing is available to petitioner. If Appellant had alleged facts upon which relief could be granted, it would have been entitled to and would have received an evidentiary hearing to prove the facts alleged.

Appellant's right to due process has not been abridged.

POINT I

THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION PROPERLY GRANTED APPELLEE/FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY'S MOTION TO DISMISS APPELLANT'S AMENDED PETITION FOR FAILURE TO ALLEGE VIOLATION OF A TERRITORIAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN APPELLANT AND APPELLEE/FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY.

The only issue before this Court is whether, as a matter of law, the Florida Public Service Commission properly granted Appellee/Florida Power & Light Company's Motion to Dismiss the amended petition of Appellant for failure to state a cause of action; i.e., a violation of the territorial agreement between Appellant and Appellee/Florida Power & Light Company. (AA-23)

In consideration of a motion to dismiss, all facts well pleaded are deemed true and when such facts state a cause of action on which the relief requested can be granted, the motion should be denied. Where, as in this case, assuming all facts properly pleaded to be admitted and correct, the petition as a matter of law fails to state a cause of action for violation of a territorial agreement between the parties, the motion must be granted and the petition dismissed. Carter v. Sterling Finance Co., 132 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961).

Examination of the amended petition (R-34)(AA-1), on which the order appealed is based, fails to reveal a clear allegation of violation of the territorial agreement between Appellant and Appellee/Florida Power & Light Company. To the contrary, the amended petition alleges and admits that Appellee/Florida Power & Light Company delivers energy to a customer of Appellee/Florida

Power & Light Company within the service territory of Appellee/ Florida Power & Light Company.

The service agreement dated October 8, 1964, between Appellant and Appellee/Florida Power & Light Company, and approved by the Florida Public Service Commission, provides that:

It is agreed that neither [Appellant nor Appellee/Florida Power & Light Company] will serve or offer to serve a customer outside its service area as shown on Exhibit A without first consulting and reaching agreement with the other party. (R-44) (AA-23)

In order for the Appellant to have been entitled to relief from the Florida Public Service Commission, it would have had to have alleged and ultimately proved that Florida Power & Light Company was providing or offering to provide service to a customer outside its own service area and within the service area of Lee County Electric Cooperative, Inc. The Appellant not only failed to allege that Florida Power & Light Company was providing service or was offering to provide service to a customer within Appellant's territory, but admitted on the face of the complaint that Florida Power & Light Company was providing the service at a point within Florida Power & Light Company's territory. be assumed that the drafters of the contractual agreement between Florida Power & Light Company and Lee County Electric Cooperative, Inc., were aware of the legal significance of the words used in the agreement and were, therefore, aware of the manner in which the language would be interpreted and intended that it be enforced accordingly. Section 25-6.03(6), F.A.C., defines "service" as follows:

The supply by the utility of electricity to the customer, including the readiness to serve and availability of electrical energy at the customer's point of delivery at the standard available voltage and frequency whether or not utilized by the customer. (Emphasis Supplied) (AA-35)

It is, thus, clear that, as a matter of law, when Florida Power & Light Company provides service at the customer's point of delivery and that point is located within the service area of Florida Power & Light Company as agreed to by both parties, provision of that service is clearly and specifically within the framework of the agreement and is neither violative of its intent or its plain meaning under the law. Those provisions, coupled with the mandate of Section 366.03, Florida Statutes (1985), of a public utility to furnish persons applying for service is no doubt the reason behind the Commission's determination in Order No. 13998 (AA-28) in which it issued its declaratory statement that Florida Power & Light Company would, indeed, have a duty to serve a customer requesting delivery of service at a delivery point within the service area of Florida Power & Light Company even though it was recognized that the customer, after purchasing the electricity at the point of delivery, could deliver that electricity over its own wires and facilities outside the service territory of Florida Power & Light Company. Thus, the Commission, in rejecting the Appellant's amended petition to resolve the territorial dispute, properly determined that, even if all of the allegations of the petition were taken as true, no allegation constituted a violation of the service agreement between the utilities and that the Public Service Commission, therefore, had no jurisdiction to grant the relief requested and correctly dismissed the petition.

Appellee/Florida Power & Light Company's Electric Tariff, which is filed with and approved by the Commission, has the force and effect of law unless outrageous or unreasonable in operation.

See Florida Power & Light Co. v. State, ex rel. Malcolm, 144 So.

657 (Fla. 1932); Florida Power Corp. v. Continental Testing Lab.,

Inc., 243 So.2d 195 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971). Appellee/Florida Power & Light Company's Tariff, at Section 2.3, Sheet No. 6.020 and Sheet No. 5.020, defines "point of delivery" as the point where the Company's wires or apparatus are connected with those of the customer. (AA-33; AA-34)

As a matter of law, delivery of electricity, as defined supra, to a customer at a delivery point within Appellee/Florida Power & Light Company's service area is not a violation of the territorial agreement. Thus, the Commission properly recognized and applied the applicable law and determined that Appellant did not allege facts which constitute a violation of the agreement and dismissed the amended petition.

CONCLUSION

The Public Service Commission properly dismissed Appellant's amended petition to resolve a territorial dispute since, as a

matter of law, the petition failed to state facts on which the requested relief could be granted.

POINT II

LEE COUNTY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS HAS NOT BEEN ABRIDGED.

The only purpose of an evidentiary hearing is to receive evidence in support or opposition to the allegations of the complaining party. Where the court, as in this case, presumes all of the well-pleaded facts of the petitioner to be true, the petitioner cannot be benefited by an evidentiary hearing since its only purpose is to attempt to prove that which, for purpose of the motion to dismiss, is already accepted as true. If the Appellant had been able to allege facts upon which relief could be granted, then surely it would have been entitled to and would have received an evidentiary hearing for the purpose of trying to prove the allegations.

CONCLUSION

The amended petition of Appellant requested that the Public Service Commission make a determination that Florida Power & Light Company had violated the terms of a service agreement entered into between the two parties and approved by the Commission. The operative language of that contractual agreement is as follows:

It is agreed that neither [Appellant nor Appellee/ Florida Power & Light Company] will serve or offer to serve a customer outside its service area as shown on Exhibit A without first consulting and reaching agree- $(R-44)^{-}(AA-23)$ ment with the other party.

In order for the Appellant to have alleged a violation of the agreement between the two parties which would have entitled the Appellant to relief, the Appellant would have had to allege that Florida Power & Light Company was serving or offering to serve a customer outside of its service area as shown on Exhibit A to the The Appellant not only failed to allege that Florida agreement. Power & Light Company was serving or offering to serve a customer outside its service area, but, on the contrary, admitted that the delivery point of the service to the customer in question was inside the service area of Florida Power & Light Company as defined by the agreement.

Therefore, the Commission had no alternative but to dismiss the Appellant's amended petition and Appellee/Florida Power & Light Company respectfully requests that the decision of the Florida Public Service Commission be affirmed.